1. [bookmark: _Toc311790756][bookmark: _Toc313554082][bookmark: _Toc311548384]General information
Asphere Innovations Public Company Limited (Formerly Asiasoft Corporation Public Company Limited) (“the Company”) is a public company limited incorporated and resident in Thailand. The address of the Company’s registered office is 51 Major Tower Rama 9 - Ramkhamhaeng 18th floor, Room No.3-8, Rama 9 Road, Hua Mak, Bangkapi, Bangkok.
The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand. For reporting purposes, the Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as “the Group”.
The Group is principally engaged as a provider of publishing online game services.
The consolidated and separate financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 February 2024.
2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Generally Accepted Accounting Principles under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543, being those Thai Financial Reporting Standards issued under the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547, and the financial reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities and Exchange Act.
The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared and presented in Thai Baht, rounded in the notes to the financial statements to the nearest thousand.
The preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with Thai Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated and separate financial statements are disclosed in Note 6.
An English version of the consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared from the consolidated and separate financial statements that are in the Thai language.  In the event of a conflict or a difference in interpretation between the two languages, the Thai language consolidated and separate financial statements shall prevail.
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3. New financial reporting standards
3.1   Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year
During the year, the Group has adopted the revised financial reporting standards which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards. 
The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements except for the following standard, which involves changes to key principles, as summarised below.
3.2   Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024
The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting standards, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.
The management of the Group believes that adoption of these amendments will not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
4. Accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below:
4.1   Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture 
4.1.1   Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns though its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 



4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below:
4.1   Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
4.1.1   Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer’s net assets.
If the business combination is achieves in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measured are recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is regcognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognise and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or loss on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
In the separated financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.





4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below:
4.1   Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
4.1.2 	Associates
Associate are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identifies on acquisition. 
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
The Group’s share of its associate post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to share of profit or loss of associates in profit or loss.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in the profit or loss.
In the separated financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.


4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below:
4.1   Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
4.1.3   Joint venture
A joint venture is an entity in which 2 or more businesses enter into a contract to joint invest in business operations together in trade or profit under an agreement or a joint venture contract that clearly specifies the objectives and goals of the operation with shareholding percentage responsibilities and the rights of each party, including the allocation of benefits arising from the operation. 
For investments in joint ventures, companies are presented in the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements using the equity method including share of profit or loss less provision for impairment (if any) and other comprehensive income of jointly controlled entities. If the joint venture's share of losses equals or exceeds the investment value, the investment value will be reduced and does not recognised further losses unless it has incurred legal obligation or a constructive obligation on the joint venture's liabilities or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. The business will recognised additional losses as liabilities.
4.1.4   Equity method
The investment is initially recognised at cost which is consideration paid and directly attributable costs.
The Group’s subsequently recognises shares of its associates and joint ventures’ profits or losses and other comprehensive income in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively. The subsequent cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in associates and joint ventures equals or exceeds its interest in the associates and joint ventures, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associates and joint ventures.
4.1.5    Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.




4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.1   Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
4.1.6   Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
4.1.7   Intercompany transactions on consolidation
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates and joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated in the same manner unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
4.2   Foreign currency translation
4.2.1   Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
4.2.2   Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. Conversely, when a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.2   Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
4.2.3   Group companies
The operational results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
· Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
· Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates; and
· All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
4.3   Cash and cash equivalents
In the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are not pledged as collateral and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position.
4.4   Trade accounts receivable
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost.
The impairment of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 10.
4.5   Financial asset
4.5.1   Classification
The Group classifies its debt instrument financial assets in the following measurement categories depending on i) business model for managing the asset and ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset whether they represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). 
· those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income or through profit or loss); and
· those to be measured at amortised cost.
4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.5   Financial asset (Cont’d)
4.5.1   Classification (Cont’d)
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
For investments in equity instruments, the Group has an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) except those that are held for trading, they are measured at FVPL.
4.5.2   Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases, acquires and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
4.5.3   Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether the cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI). 
4.5.4   Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
· Amortised cost: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
· FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for i) collection of contractual cash flows;, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and ii) for selling the financial assets are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), expect for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income using the effective interest method, and foreign
4. 
Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.5   Financial asset (Cont’d)
4.5.4   Debt instruments (Cont’d)
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial assets are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income is included in other income. Impairment expenses are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.
· FVPL: Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.
4.5.5   Equity instruments
The Group measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity instruments in other income statement (FVOCI), there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the right to receive payments is established. 
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/losses in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses / (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments are reported together with changes in fair value. 
4.5.6   Impairment
The Group applies the TFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring the impairment of trade and other receivables, which applies lifetime expected credit loss, from initial recognition, for all trade and other receivables. 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade and other receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. The expected credit loss rates are based on payment profiles, historical credit losses as well as forward-looking information and factors that may affect the ability of the customers to settle the outstanding balances.


4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.5   Financial asset (Cont’d)
4.5.6   Impairment (Cont’d)
For other financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI, the Group applies TFRS 9 general approach in measuring the impairment of those financial assets. Under the general approach, the 12-month or the lifetime expected credit loss is applied depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.
The significant increase in credit risk (from initial recognition) assessment is performed every end of reporting period by comparing i) expected risk of default as of the reporting date and ii) estimated risk of default on the date of initial recognition.
The Group assesses expected credit loss by taking into consideration forward-looking information and past experiences. The expected credit loss is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (probability-weighted present value of estimated cash shortfall). The cash shortfall is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group and all cash flows expected to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
When measuring expected credit losses, the Group reflects the following:
· probability-weighted estimated uncollectible amounts
· time value of money; and 
· supportable and reasonable information as of the reporting date about past experience, current conditions and forecasts of future situations.
Impairment (and reversal of impairment) losses are recognised in profit or loss as a separate line item.
4.6	Equipment
Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (if any). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.6   Equipment (Cont’d)
Depreciation of equipment is calculated to write down the cost of equipment to their residual values on the straight-line basis over estimated useful lives are as follows:
	Building improvements
	5 years

	Server
	5 years

	Furniture & fixture and equipment
	3 and 5 years

	Vehicles
	5 years


The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
The asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 4.8).
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss.
4.7   Intangible assets
	Game licenses
Purchased of game licenses are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of PC games are calculated using straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 2 - 4 years while Mobile games are calculated using sum of year digit over their estimate useful life of 2 - 4 years.
Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised using straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 and 5 years. Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the criteria are met.
Golf club membership
Golf club membership is carried at cost less impairment losses (if any). Golf club membership is not amortised as it deems to have indefinite useful life.
Customer relationship
Customer relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationship have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 - 13 years.


4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.7   Intangible assets (Cont’d)
Trademark
Trademark acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademark has a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 20 years.
4.8   Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
4.9    Leases - where the Group is the lessee
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:
· fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
· variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate
· amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
· the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
· payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.


4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.9    Leases - where the Group is the lessee (Cont’d)
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions. 
The group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
· the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
· any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
· any initial direct costs, and
· restoration costs. 
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise.
4.10   Financial liabilities
4.10.1    Classification
Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or equity securities by considering contractual obligations.
· Where the Group has an unconditional contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, it is considered a financial liability unless there is a predetermined or possible settlement for a fixed amount of cash in exchange of a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments.
· Where the Group has no contractual obligation or has an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset in settlement of the obligation, it is considered an equity instrument.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
4.10.2	Measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.



4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.10   Financial liabilities (Cont’d)
4.10.3     Derecognition and modification 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expired. 
Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated or modified, the Group assesses whether the renegotiation or modification results in the derecognition of that financial liability. Where the modification results in an extinguishment, the new financial liability is recognised based on fair value of its obligation. The remaining carrying amount of financial liability is derecognised. The difference as well as proceed paid is recognised as other gains / (losses) in profit or loss. 
Where the modification does not result in the derecognition of the financial liability, the carrying amount of the financial liability is recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows discounted at its original effective interest rate. The difference is recognised in other gains / (losses) in profit or loss.
4.11	   Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective yield method.
4.12   Current and deferred income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising from differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.12   Current and deferred income taxes (Cont’d)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
4.13   Employee benefits
4.13.1	Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits such as [wages, salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses, and medical care - revise as appropriate] that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period are recognised in respect of employees’ service up to the end of the reporting period. They are measured at the amount expected to be paid.
4.13.2	Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and management by fund manager. The fund has received contributions from employees and the Group.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in statements of comprehensive income when they are due.
4.13.3	Post-employment benefit obligations
The Group provides for post-employment benefits to or retirement indemnity employees under the labor laws applicable in Thailand depends on basis of salary and service year of staff until the future last working day. The Group has recorded the liabilities in respect of employee benefits which are the present value of the defined benefit obligations calculated by an independent actuary in accordance with the actuarial technique, and discounted benefit by the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligations are determined by discounting estimated future cash flows using yields on the government bonds which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of related liability. The estimated future cash flows shall reflect employee salaries, turnover rate, mortality, length of service and other. The Group recorded provision of employee benefit as non-current liabilities.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments or changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.


4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.13   Employee benefits (Cont’d)
4.13.4	Termination benefits
The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for the related restructuring.  Benefits due more than 12 months are discounted to their present value.
4.14    Share-based payment
The Group receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group companies. The fair value of the options is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options is determined by:
· including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity’s share price); 
· including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a specific period of time); and 
· excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period).
Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision, if any, in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share premium.
The option granted by the Company to the employees of the subsidiary(ies) is treated as a capital contribution.
4.15   Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.                              The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
4.16   Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Other shares including mandatory redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax from the proceeds.

4. Accounting policies (Cont’d)
4.17   Revenue recognition
Revenue from publishing of the online game after perform follow the obligation in contracts with the game developer comprises the fair value of performance obligation in contracts with the game developer that occur from the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.  Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, and discounts after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as revenue when the gamers purchased an item in game in the statement of comprehensive income. The amount paid in advance by gamers via the refill channels and did not purchased an item in game is presented as deferred revenue in the statement of financial position.
The revenue from distribution is shown net of value-added tax, returns, and discounts after eliminating sales within                        the Group. Revenue is recognised as revenue when the gamers paid via the refill channels.
Interest income and other income are recognised on an accrual basis, except if collectability is in doubt. 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
4.18   Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders and Board of Director’s approval for interim dividend payment.
4.19   Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.
5. Financial risk management
5.1	Financial risk factors
The principal financial risks faced by the Group are market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is carried out by Group management. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
5.1.1	Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The subsidiaries and associates of the Group operate internationally and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to USD, MYR, SGD and PHP. However, the Group believes that foreign exchange risk will have no significant effect on their operational results.


5. Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.1	Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
5.1.1	Market risk (Cont’d)
Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from lease liabilities, loan from related parties, and loan from financial institution. Lease liabilities issued at variable rates and loans from director issued at fixed rate. Management considers that interest rate risk is no significant.
Price risk
The exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments in equity securities which are classified either as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (Note 15).
To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.
The majority of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded and are included in SET100 Index.
Post-tax profit for the year would increase or decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified as at FVPL. Other components of equity would increase or decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified as FVOCI.
5.1.2 	Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried at a) amortised cost, b) at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and c) at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), favorable derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.
Most of the Group’s revenues, being publishing of the online revenue, are normally paid by gamers in advance. Therefore, the Group has never experienced significant difficulties in debt collection. Management considers that the Group have no significant effect on credit risk.
Impairment of financial assets 
The Group has financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
·   Trade and other receivables 
·   Loans to related parties carried at amortised cost 
·   Financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
·   Financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)


5. Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.1	Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
5.1.2 	Credit risk (Cont’d)
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the expected credit loss requirements of TFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.
The Group applies the TFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit loss which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade and other receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The details of expected credit loss are in Note 10.
5.1.3	Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to manage the risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.
Maturity of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the maturity of financial liabilities grouping based on their contractual maturities. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. For interest rate swaps, the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.

5. Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.1	Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
5.1.3	Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
	[bookmark: _Hlk63361012]
	Consolidated financial statements

	Maturity of financial liabilities
	Within 1 year
	1 - 5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total
	Book value 

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	As at 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	136,134
	-
	-
	136,134
	136,134

	Loan from financial institution
	80,040
	133,280
	-
	213,320
	213,320

	Loans
	190,000
	-
	-
	190,000
	190,000

	Lease liabilities
	3,480
	6,347
	-
	9,827
	9,827

	Total financial liabilities 
	409,654
	139,627
	-
	549,281
	549,281




	
	Separate financial statements

	Maturity of financial liabilities
	Within 1 year
	1 - 5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total
	Book value 

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	As at 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	22,606
	-
	-
	22,606
	22,606

	Loan from financial institution
	80,040
	133,280
	-
	213,320
	213,320

	Loans
	193,000
	-
	-
	193,000
	193,000

	Lease liabilities
	297
	-
	-
	297
	297

	Total financial liabilities 
	295,943
	133,280
	-
	429,223
	429,223



	
	Consolidated financial statements

	Maturity of financial liabilities
	Within 1 year
	1 - 5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total
	Book value 

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	As at 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	151,721
	-
	-
	151,721
	151,721

	Lease liabilities
	9,060
	8,614
	-
	17,674
	17,674

	Total financial liabilities 
	160,781
	8,614
	-
	169,395
	169,395



5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
	5.1     Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
5.1.3	Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

	
	Separate financial statements

	Maturity of financial liabilities
	Within 1 year
	1 - 5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total
	Book value 

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	As at 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	29,391
	-
	-
	29,391
	29,391

	Lease liabilities
	1,964
	297
	-
	2,261
	2,261

	Total financial liabilities 
	31,355
	297
	-
	31,652
	31,652


5.2     Fair value
Disclosures of fair value measurements by level are as below:
· Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
· Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
· Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)




5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
The following table shows fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by category.
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2023

	
	Fair value through profit
 or loss (FVPL)
	Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
	Amortised 
cost
	Total carrying amount
	

Fair value

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	259,399
	259,399
	259,399

	Current investment
	-
	-
	85,148
	85,148
	85,148

	Restricted bank deposit
	-
	-
	50,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	81,929
	81,929
	81,929

	Loans to related parties
	-
	-
	7,500
	7,500
	7,500

	Other current financial assets
	186,471
	-
	-
	186,471
	186,471

	Financial assets measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	

	through other comprehensive income
	-
	759,440
	-
	759,440
	759,440

	
	186,471
	759,440
	483,976
	1,429,887
	1,429,887

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	136,134
	136,134
	136,134

	Loan from financial institution
	-
	-
	213,320
	213,320
	213,320

	Loans from related parties
	-
	-
	190,000
	190,000
	190,000

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	9,827
	9,827
	9,827

	
	-
	-
	549,281
	549,281
	549,281












5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2023

	
	Fair value through profit
 or loss (FVPL)
	Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
	Amortised 
cost
	Total carrying amount
	

Fair value

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	23,339
	23,339
	23,339

	Current investment
	-
	-
	85,148
	85,148
	85,148

	Restricted bank deposit
	-
	-
	50,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	21,654
	21,654
	21,654

	Loans to related parties
	-
	-
	7,500
	7,500
	7,500

	Other current financial assets
	52,018
	-
	-
	52,018
	52,018

	Financial assets measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	

	through other comprehensive income
	-
	759,440
	-
	759,440
	759,440

	
	52,018
	759,440
	187,641
	999,099
	999,099

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	22,596
	22,596
	22,596

	Loan from financial institution
	-
	-
	213,320
	213,320
	213,320

	Loans from related parties
	-
	-
	193,000
	193,000
	193,000

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	297
	297
	297

	
	-
	-
	429,213
	429,213
	429,213









5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2022

	
	Fair value through profit
 or loss (FVPL)
	Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
	Amortised 
cost
	Total carrying amount
	

Fair value

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	605,623
	605,623
	605,623

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	78,213
	78,213
	78,213

	Loans to related parties
	-
	-
	3,000
	3,000
	3,000

	Other current financial assets
	310,878
	-
	-
	310,878
	310,878

	
	310,878
	-
	686,836
	997,714
	997,714

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	151,721
	151,721
	151,721

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	17,674
	17,674
	17,674

	
	-
	-
	169,395
	169,395
	169,395

	
	

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2022

	
	Fair value through profit
 or loss (FVPL)
	Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
	Amortised 
cost
	Total carrying amount
	

Fair value

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	349,772
	349,772
	349,772

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	84,589
	84,589
	84,589

	Loans to related parties
	-
	-
	23,000
	23,000
	23,000

	Other current financial assets
	187,993
	-
	-
	187,993
	187,993

	
	187,993
	-
	457,361
	645,354
	645,354

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	29,391
	29,391
	29,391

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	2,261
	2,261
	2,261

	
	-
	-
	31,652
	31,652
	31,652


5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2023

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	259,399
	-
	-
	259,399

	Current investment
	85,148
	-
	-
	85,148

	Restricted bank deposit
	50,000
	-
	-
	50,000

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	81,929
	81,929

	Loans to related parties
	-
	7,500
	-
	7,500

	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
	
	
	

	Investment in mutual fund (Note 12)
	186,471
	-
	-
	186,471

	Financial assets at fair value through 
   other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	

	[bookmark: _Hlk158836168]Listed equity securities (Note 15)
	145,440
	-
	-
	145,440

	Equity investments (Note 15)
	-
	-
	614,000
	614,000

	
	726,458
	7,500
	695,929
	1,429,887

	Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	136,134
	136,134

	Loan from financial institution
	-
	213,320
	-
	213,320

	Loans
	-
	190,000
	-
	190,000

	Lease liabilities
	-
	9,827
	-
	9,827

	
	-
	413,147
	136,134
	549,281



[bookmark: _Toc311790759][bookmark: _Toc313554085]




5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2023

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	23,339
	-
	-
	23,339

	Current investment
	85,148
	-
	-
	85,148

	Restricted bank deposit
	50,000
	-
	-
	50,000

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	21,654
	21,654

	Loans to related parties
	-
	7,500
	-
	7,500

	Financial assets at fair value 
   through profit or loss
	
	
	
	

	Investment in mutual fund (Note 12)
	52,018
	-
	-
	52,018

	Financial assets at fair value through 
   other comprehensive income
	
	
	

	Listed equity securities (Note 15)
	145,440
	-
	-
	145,440

	Equity investments (Note 15)
	-
	-
	614,000
	614,000

	
	355,945
	7,500
	635,654
	999,099

	Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	22,596
	22,596

	Loan from financial institution
	-
	213,320
	-
	213,320

	Loans
	-
	193,000
	-
	193,000

	Lease liabilities
	-
	297
	-
	297

	
	-
	406,617
	22,596
	429,213







5.	Financial risk management (Cont’d)
5.2	Fair value (Cont’d)
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2022

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial Assets at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	605,623
	-
	-
	605,623

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	78,213
	78,213

	Loans to related parties
	-
	3,000
	-
	3,000

	Financial assets at fair value 
   through profit or loss
	
	
	
	

	Investment in mutual fund (Note 12)
	310,878
	-
	-
	310,878

	
	916,501
	3,000
	78,213
	997,714

	Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	151,721
	151,721

	Lease liabilities
	-
	17,674
	-
	17,674

	
	-
	17,674
	151,721
	169,395

	
	

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at 31 December 2022

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial Assets at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	349,772
	-
	-
	349,772

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	84,589
	84,589

	Loans to related parties
	-
	23,000
	-
	23,000

	Financial assets at fair value 
   through profit or loss
	
	
	
	

	Investment in mutual fund (Note 12)
	187,993
	-
	-
	187,993

	
	537,765
	23,000
	84,589
	645,354

	Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	29,391
	29,391

	Lease liabilities
	-
	2,261
	-
	2,261

	
	-
	2,261
	29,391
	31,652


6.	Critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgements
Estimates, assumptions, and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below.
6.1   Estimated impairment of intangible assets, and prepaid royalty fees
The Group tests annually whether impairment of intangible assets and prepaid royalty fees when indicators of impairment exist, which are in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 4.8. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.
6.2   Equipment and intangible assets
Management determines the estimated useful life and residual values for the equipment and intangible assets of which are mainly considered by technical ability and economic useful life. The management will revise the depreciation charge where useful life and residual values are significantly different to previously estimated, or it will write-off or technically obsolete on assets that have been abandoned.
6.3   Expected credit losses
The Group maintains an expected credit losses for doubtful accounts to reflect impairment of trade receivables and loans including interest receivables relating to estimated losses resulting from the default or inability of customers to make required payments. The expected credit losses is based on consideration of historical collection experience, known and aging of outstanding debt of each customer. The management will fully set up allowance for long outstanding amounts and without any collateral.
6.4   Employee benefit obligations
The present value of the employee benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying amount of employee benefit obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related employee benefit liability.
Other key assumptions for employee benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional information is disclosed in Note 25.

7.	Capital risk management
The Group's objective in managing its capital is to maintain the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
8.	Operating segments
Board of Directors is the Group’s chief operating decision-maker. Management has determined the operating segments based on the information reviewed by Board of Directors for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance.
Board of Directors considers the business from both a geographic and product and service perspective. Geographically, management considers the performance in Thailand, Singapore, Malaysia, Philippines and other countries. From service perspective, management separately considers the publishing online game services and distribution activities in these geographies. The Group derives their revenue primarily from the publishing online game services.
Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted EBIT. This measurement basis excludes discontinued operations and the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as restructuring costs, legal expenses, and goodwill impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event. The measure also excludes the effects of equity-settled share-based payments and unrealised gains/losses on financial instruments. Financial income and expenditure are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash position of the Group.
Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length. The revenue from external parties reported to the Board of Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in profit or loss.
Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decision about the allocation of resource to the segment and assess its performance. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board of Directors.
For management purposes, the Company and its subsidiaries are organised into business units based on its services and have 2 reportable segments as follows:
· The online game segment is a business segment which provides publishing online game services through the internet that perform based on the agreement of publisher with the game developer.
· The distribution segment is a business which provides payment channel services.



8.	Operating segments (Cont’d)
The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of the business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing performance. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss and total assets and on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss and total assets in the financial information. 
The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is consistent with that for third party transactions.
8.	Operating segments (Cont’d)
The following table presents revenue and profit information regarding the Company and its subsidiaries’ operating segments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
	
	Unit: Thousand Baht

	
	For the years ended 31 December

	
	Online game segment1)
	Distribution segment2)
	Others
	Consolidation

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Revenue from services from external customers
	1,435,537
	1,560,606
	3,248
	3,827
	10,448
	11,277
	1,449,233
	1,575,710

	Segment profit
	709,614
	758,422
	3,248
	3,116
	10,448
	10,284
	723,310
	771,822

	Unallocated income (expenses):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Dividend income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	58
	111

	Interest income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1,874
	880

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	8,301
	45,903

	Gains on disposal of investment in subsidiary
	
	
	
	
	
	
	66,378
	-

	Selling and administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(535,071)
	(499,039)

	Finance costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(9,284)
	(800)

	Share of loss from investments in associates and joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(3,460)
	(1,550)

	Income tax expense
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(52,440)
	(51,199)

	Non-controlling interests
	
	
	
	
	
	
	18,665
	2,432

	Gain attributable to owners of the parent for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	218,331
	268,560


1. The publishing online game segment is a business segment which provides publishing online game services through the internet that perform based on the agreement of publisher with the game developer.
1. The distribution segment is a business segment which provides payment channel services.

8.	Operating segments (Cont’d)
Geographic information 
Revenue from external customers for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on locations of the Company and subsidiaries, are made up as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements

	
	
	
	2023
	2022

	
	
	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Thailand
	
	
	452,641
	515,875

	Singapore
	
	
	818,521
	802,202

	Malaysia
	
	
	89,171
	142,373

	Vietnam
	
	
	88,738
	115,134

	Other
	
	
	162
	126

	Total
	
	
	1,449,233
	1,575,710


9.	Cash and cash equivalents 

	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Cash on hand
	505
	919
	25
	26

	Deposit held at call with banks 
	344,041
	604,704
	108,462
	349,746

	Total cash and cash equivalents
	344,546
	605,623
	108,487
	349,772


As at 31 December 2023, deposits held at call with banks bore interests at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.35% per annum (2022: from 0.05% to 0.50% per annum).
Credit facility
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has an outstanding unused credit facility at Baht 50 million.




10.	Trade and other receivables 
Outstanding trade accounts receivable as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 can be analysed as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Trade accounts receivable
	
	
	
	

	   - Third parties
	68,039
	60,271
	-
	-

	Less Allowance for expected credit loss
	-
	(63)
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable, net
	68,039
	60,208
	-
	-

	
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivable 
	
	
	
	

	   - Subsidiaries (Note 35 (d))
	-
	38
	28,919
	49,026

	Less Allowance for expected credit loss 
	-
	-
	(28,919)
	(28,919)

	Trade accounts receivable, net (Note 35 (d))
	-
	38
	-
	20,107

	
	
	
	
	

	Total trade accounts receivable, net
	68,039
	60,246
	-
	20,107

	Amounts due from related parties (Note 35 (d))
	132
	6
	21,070
	64,456

	Interest receivable from related parties (Note 35 (d))
	198
	-
	198
	-

	Accrued income from third parties
	2,246
	209
	354
	-

	Other receivables from third parties
	11,314
	17,752
	32
	26

	Trade and other receivables, net
	81,929
	78,213
	21,654
	84,589 















10.	Trade and other receivables (Cont’d)
Outstanding trade and other receivable can be analysed as follows:
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Third parties
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivable
	
	
	
	

	   Current
	58,117
	40,902
	-
	-

	   Overdue less than 3 months
	9,686
	19,297
	-
	-

	   3 - 6 months
	236
	-
	-
	-

	   6 - 12 months
	-
	3
	-
	-

	   Over 12 months
	-
	69
	-
	-

	Total
	68,039
	60,271
	-
	-

	Less Allowance for expected credit loss
	-
	(63)
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - third parties, net
	68,039
	60,208
	-
	-

	
	
	
	
	

	Related parties (Note 35 (d))
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivable
	
	
	
	

	   Current
	-
	38
	-
	14,029

	   Overdue less than 3 months
	-
	-
	-
	-

	   3 - 6 months
	-
	-
	-
	6,078

	   6 - 12 months
	-
	-
	-
	-

	   Over 12 months
	-
	-
	28,919
	28,919

	Total
	-
	38
	28,919
	49,026

	Less Allowance for expected credit loss
	-
	-
	(28,919)
	(28,919)

	Trade accounts receivable - related parties, net
	-
	38
	-
	20,107










11.        Short-term loans to related parties
The balance of short-term loans to related parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 comprise the following:
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate
financial statements

	
	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	
	

	Playpark Company Limited
	Subsidiary
	-
	-
	-
	20,000

	Thaiware Communication 
	
	
	
	
	

	  Company Limited
	Associate
	-
	3,000
	-
	3,000

	Kubplay Entertainment   
	
	
	
	
	

	  Company Limited
	Joint venture
	7,500
	-
	7,500
	-

	Total short-term loans to related parties 
	7,500
	3,000
	7,500
	23,000


As at 31 December 2023, the Company has a short-term loan to Kubplay Entertainment Co., Ltd. in the amount of Baht 7.5 million with an interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum. The contract is due at call.
As at 31 December 2022, the Company had made a short-term loan to Playpark Company Limited in the amount of Baht                             20 million with an interest at a rate of 0.35% - 0.55% per annum, the contract period is 1 year and has since been repaid in full.
As at 31 December 2022, the Company had made a short-term loan of Baht 3 million, with an interest rate of 2% per annum,             to Thaiware Communication Company Limited. The term of the loan was for 1 year and has since been repaid in full.


12.        Other current financial assets
Other current financial assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 comprise the following:
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets measured 
     at fair value through profit or loss
	
	
	
	

	Beginning balance
	310,878
	406,885
	187,993
	186,028

	Additions
	136,591
	166,879
	20,000
	25,000

	Disposal
	(262,898)
	(241,799)
	(155,455)
	-

	Change in investment value
	693
	(26,858)
	(520)
	(23,035)

	Exchange rate differences
	1,207
	5,771
	-
	-

	Total other current financial assets (Note 36)
	186,471
	310,878
	52,018
	187,993


13.	Other current assets
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Account receivable  - The Revenue department
	1,126
	583
	1,098
	13

	Withholding taxes refundable
	2,566
	14,724
	2,521
	845

	Prepaid expenses
	18,589
	17,872
	215
	585

	Undue input vat
	282
	5,920
	15
	18

	Others
	5,295
	4,832
	206
	1,922

	Total other current assets
	27,858
	43,931
	4,055
	3,383







 14.	Restricted bank deposit
Restricted bank deposit as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Restricted bank deposit
	50,000
	-
	50,000
	-

	Total restricted bank deposit
	50,000
	-
	50,000
	-


At 31 December 2023, restricted deposits at a financial institution represent saving deposits of the Company. The restricted deposits are used as collateral against to secure credit facilities obtained from the banks which is due within one year. 
15.	Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
[bookmark: _Hlk154044004]16 (a)	Classification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) comprise: 
•	Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to 	recognise in this category.
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	

	   through other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	

	   - Sabuy Technology PCL.
	326,602
	-
	326,602
	-

	   - Bitkub Online Co., Ltd.
	600,000
	-
	600,000
	-

	   - The Big Bang Theory Co., Ltd.
	14,000
	-
	14,000
	-

	Less: Loss from change in fair value of 
   equity investments
	(181,162)
	-
	(181,162)
	-

	       Total financial assets measured value through
	
	
	
	

	   other comprehensive income
	759,440
	-
	759,440
	-


Financial assets are investments in equity instruments, which are neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised in a business combination. The Company holds these assets to receive long-term cash flow from dividends.
At 31 December 2023 the Company pledging common shares of Bitkub Online Company Limited in the amount of 1 million shares, amount of Baht 145 million for guarantee of long-term loan from financial institution (Note 21).
15.	Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Cont’d)
16 (b)	Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
The following gains/(losses) were recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year as follows:
	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Losses recognised in other 
	
	
	
	

	   comprehensive income
	
	
	
	

	- Related to equity investment
	(181,162)
	-
	(181,162)
	-

	Total amount recognised in loss and  
other comprehensive income
	(181,162)
	-
	(181,162)
	-



During the year, the Group and the Company acquired listed equity securities measured at FVOCI in the amount of Baht 326 million, and losses in the amount of Baht 181 million.
16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture
Details of investments of subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture as at the financial statements during the year are as follows:
17 (a)	Investment in subsidiaries
The Group had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:
	
	
	Country of
	
	Proportion of ordinary
	Proportion of ordinary
	Proportion of shares

	
	
	incorporation
	
	shares directly held by
	shares held by the
	held by non-controlling

	
	
	and place of
	Nature of
	parent (%)
	Group (%)
	interests (%)

	
	Name
	business
	business
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Direct
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   Subsidiaries which held by Asphere Innovations Public Company Limited (Formerly Asiasoft Corporation Public Company Limited)

	A Capital Co., Ltd.
	Thailand
	Investment
	100.00
	100.00
	100.00
	100.00
	-
	-

	CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.
	Malaysia
	Publisher of online games
	-
	61.68
	-
	61.68
	100.00
	38.32

	Playpark Co., Ltd.
	Thailand
	Publisher of online games
	99.99
	99.99
	99.99
	99.99
	0.01
	0.01

	Playpark Pte Ltd. 
	 Singapore
	Publisher of online games
	100.00
	100.00
	100.00
	100.00
	-
	-

	PT. Asiasoft
	Indonesia
	Publisher of online games
	99.99
	99.99
	99.99
	99.99
	0.01
	0.01

	Playpark Inc.
	Philippines
	Publisher of online games
	40.00
	40.00
	40.00
	40.00
	60.00
	60.00

	Playpark Company Limited Vietnam
	Vietnam
	Investment
	49.00
	49.00
	49.00
	49.00
	51.00
	51.00

	Indirect
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   Subsidiaries which held by CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.

	Playpark Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 
	Malaysia
	Publisher of online games
	-
	-
	-
	100.00
	100.00
	-

	   Subsidiaries which held by Playpark Company Limited Vietnam
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Asia Soft Co., Ltd. - Vietnam
	Vietnam
	Publisher of online games
	-
	-
	100.00
	100.00
	-
	-


All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings held directly by the parent company does not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held. The parent company does not have any shareholdings in the preference shares of subsidiary undertaking included in the Group.
16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (a)	Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Movements of investment in subsidiaries can be analysed as follows:
	
	Separate 
financial statements

	For the year ended 31 December 
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Opening net book amount
	208,292
	137,471

	Purchase of investment
	-
	15,771

	Disposal of investment
	(289,765)
	-

	Write-off of investment
	-
	(157,050)

	Write-off impairment of investment
	237,278
	157,050

	Reversal of impairment
	-
	55,050

	Closing net book amount
	155,805
	208,292

	
	
	

	As at 31 December
	
	

	Investment in subsidiaries - at cost
	221,076
	510,841

	Less Allowance for impairment
	(65,271)
	(302,549)

	Closing net book amount
	155,805
	208,292



16 (b)	Liquidation of subsidiaries
Asiasoft International Co., Ltd. registered for liquidation with the Ministry of Commerce finished on 30 September 2022. There was no material impact from this liquidation on the Group.
16 (c)	The capital reduction of subsidiary
The Company decreased its share capital in Playpark Co., Ltd., a Thailand subsidiary, by Baht 75 million from Baht 150 million to Baht 75 million. The capital reduction was completed on 7 November 2022.
The minutes of the Board of Directors' Meeting No. 4/2022 held on 11 November 2022 has resolved to approve A Capital Company Limited to dispose of investments in ordinary shares of Skynet Systems Company Limited for 35,000 shares at a value of Baht 80.56 per share to third parties.




16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (d)	Reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiaries
In 2022, the management considered reversing impairments for investments in a subsidiary of Playpark Co., Ltd. of Baht 55.05 million. As the parent company transferred the operation to the subsidiary, the subsidiary has continued to improve their performance, the reversal of the impairments for investments has been taken into account by the parent company to ensure that the reversal will not affect the Company’s ability to record impairments for investments in the subsidiary in the future.
16 (e)	Investment in oversea company
On 18 March 2022, the Company completed its investment in Playpark Co., Ltd (Vietnam) (the Company’s subsidiary) by holding 100% stake in Asia Soft Co., Ltd (Vietnam) (the Subsidiary which held by the Company’s subsidiary). The Company accepts shares from non-controlling interests without payment and the Group has adjusted the carrying amount of major shareholder and non-controlling interests to reflect the change in parent company's shareholders' equity in consolidated financial statements.
16 (f)	Disposal of investment in subsidiary
On 14 September 2023, a meeting of the Board of Directors No. 7/2023 of Asphere Innovations Public Company Limited passed a resolution approving to dispose of shares in CIB Development Sdn. Bhd., (“CIB”) which the Company held 61.68 percent in CIB. The disposal of CIB’s ordinary share in 61.68 percent of registered capital or 616,807 shares with an amount of Baht 94 million to buyer who has no relationship and/or related to executives, directors, major shareholders, and controlling person of the Company and its subsidiaries. This investment in subsidiary was disposed on 29 September 2023.

16.      Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (g)	Investment in subsidiaries
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
The summary financial information of each subsidiary that non-controlling interests are significant to the Group are summarised below. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary is shown by the amount before the inter-company elimination.
Summarised statement of financial position
	
	CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.
	Playpark Inc.
	Playpark Co., Ltd. Vietnam
	Total

	
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Current
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assets
	-
	53,981
	5,878
	16,506
	31,322
	15,883
	37,200
	86,370

	Liabilities
	-
	(34,574)
	(4,080)
	(8,728)
	(64,081)
	(58)
	(68,161)
	(43,360)

	Total current net assets
	-
	19,407
	1,798
	7,778
	(32,759)
	15,825
	(30,961)
	43,010

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-current 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assets
	-
	27,301
	9
	6,029
	8,876
	16,420
	8,885
	49,750

	Liabilities
	-
	-
	-
	(1,201)
	(600)
	-
	(600)
	(1,201)

	Total non-current net assets 
	-
	27,301
	9
	4,828
	8,276
	16,420
	8,285
	48,549

	Net assets (liabilities)
	-
	46,708
	1,807
	12,606
	(24,483)
	32,245
	(22,676)
	91,559

	Accumulated NCI
	-
	29,618
	11,497
	18,262
	(7,688)
	17,316
	3,809
	65,196



16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (g)	Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (Cont’d)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
	
	CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.
	Playpark Inc.
	Playpark Co., Ltd. Vietnam
	Total

	
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue 
	89,171
	142,372
	-
	-
	88,738
	-
	177,909
	142,372

	Profit (loss) before income tax
	13,127
	16,122
	(11,636)
	(4,087)
	(51,859)
	49
	(50,368)
	12,084

	Income tax expense 
	(3,397)
	(3,975)
	771
	(157)
	-
	-
	(2,626)
	(4,132)

	Post-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations
	9,730
	
12,147
	(10,865)
	
(4,244)
	(51,859)
	
49
	(52,994)
	
7,952

	Other comprehensive income 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total comprehensive income (expense)
	9,730
	12,147
	(10,865)
	(4,244)
	(51,859)
	49
	(52,994)
	7,952

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Profit (loss) allocated to 
non-controlling interests
	5,451
	7,823
	(6,519)
	(3,437)
	(17,597)
	1,033
	(18,665)
	5,419






16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (g)	Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Summarised statement of cash flows
	
	CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.
	Playpark Inc.
	Playpark Co., Ltd. Vietnam
	Total

	
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December
	As at 31 December

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Cash flow from operating activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash (used in) generated from operations
	6,543
	(20,724)
	(484)
	1,307
	9,600
	132
	15,659
	(19,285)

	Interest paid
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(344)
	-
	(344)
	-

	Income tax paid
	(3,397)
	(5,257)
	(503)
	(653)
	-
	-
	(3,900)
	(5,910)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash (used in) generated from operating activities
	3,146
	(25,981)
	(987)
	654
	9,256
	132
	11,415
	(25,195)

	Net cash used in investing activities
	(98)
	39,389
	-
	6
	2,627
	(31,787)
	2,529
	7,608

	Net cash generated from financing activities
	(771)
	(39,933)
	-
	4,891
	(10,185)
	32,051
	(10,956)
	(2,991)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
	2,277
	(26,525)
	(987)
	5,551
	1,698
	396
	2,988
	(20,578)

	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
	32,561
	58,384
	8,067
	2,874
	9,470
	100
	50,098
	61,358

	Exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents
	73
	702
	(1,506)
	(358)
	1,420
	2
	(13)
	346

	Decrease from disposal of investment in subsidiary
	(34,911)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(34,911)
	-

	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
	-
	32,561
	5,574
	8,067
	12,588
	498
	18,162
	41,126
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16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
17 (h)	Investment in associates 
Investments accounted for using equity method
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements

	As at 31 December 
	
	2023
	2022

	
	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Associates
	
	10,868
	10,120

	
	
	10,868
	10,120


The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements

	For the years ended 31 December 
	
	2023
	2022

	
	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	

	Associates
	
	748
	(454)

	
	
	748
	(454)





16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (h)	Investment in associates (Cont’d)
Nature of investment in associates for the year 2023 and 2022:
	
	Place of
	
	
	
	Cost method
	Equity method

	
	business/
	% of ownership interest
	
	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Name of entity
	country of incorporation
	
	Nature of the 
relationship
	Measurement method
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	2023
	2022
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Indirect
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Thaiware Communication Company   Limited
	Thailand
	40.00
	40.00
	Services on website
	Equity
	4,327
	4,327
	10,868
	10,120

	Less Provision for impairment
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	of investment in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total investments in associates, net
	
	
	
	
	
	4,327
	4,327
	10,868
	10,120



16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (h)	Investment in associates (Cont’d)
Movements of investment in associates can be analysed as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	Thousand Baht

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	
	10,120

	Share of profit
	
	748

	Closing net book amount
	
	10,868

	
	
	

	As at 31 December 2023
	
	

	Cost
	
	10,868

	Net book amount
	
	10,868


Set out below is the associate of the Group, which is material to the Group, in the opinion of the directors. The associate as listed below has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which is held directly by parent.
Summarised financial information for associates
Set out below are the summarised financial information for Thaiware Communication Company Limited which is accounted for using the equity method.
Summarised statement of financial position
	As at 31 December
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Current assets
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	7,220
	8,611

	Other current assets (excluding cash)
	22,158
	25,729

	Total current assets
	29,378
	34,340

	Non-current Assets
	6,839
	3,047

	
	36,217
	37,387

	Current liabilities
	
	

	Other current liabilities (including trade payables)
	(16,352)
	(19,053)

	Total current liabilities
	(16,352)
	(19,053)

	Net assets
	19,865
	18,334





16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (h)	Investment in associates (Cont’d)
Summarised financial information for associates
Set out below are the summarised financial information for Thaiware Communication Company Limited which is accounted for using the equity method.
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
	For the years ended 31 December
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Revenues 
	123,107
	113,180

	Cost of sales
	(76,062)
	(84,793)

	Selling and administrative expenses
	(44,878)
	(29,175)

	Depreciation and amortisation
	(297)
	(345)

	Total comprehensive gain/(loss)
	1,870
	(1,133)


The statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income (unaudited) of Thaiware Communication Company Limited are prepared by management. However, the management has considered that the impact is not material to the consolidated financial statements.
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associates (not the Group’s share of those amounts) and adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the associates.
Reconciliation of summarised financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in associates:
Summarised financial information
	
	As at 31 December

	
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Opening net assets as at 1 January
	18,334
	19,467

	Gain/(Loss) for the year 
	1,870
	(1,133)

	Dividend paid as at 31 December
	-
	-

	Closing net assets 
	20,204
	18,334

	Interest in associates (40.00%)
	8,081
	7,333

	Goodwill
	2,787
	2,787

	Carrying value
	10,868
	10,120


There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associates.
16.	Investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture (Cont’d)
16 (i)	Investments in joint venture
Movements of investments in joint venture can be analysed as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated and Separate financial statements

	
	
	Thousand Baht

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	
	8,903

	Purchase of investment
	
	-

	Share of loss
	
	(4,208)

	Closing net book amount
	
	4,695

	
	
	


The Company joined a joint venture arrangement with Bitkub Venture Co., Ltd to establish a new company, “Kubplay Entertainment Co., Ltd.”, which has an objective to develop a full ecosystem of Blockchain Gaming platforms to transform the conventional game model into a new game model which is Hybrid GameFi. The initial authorised share capital of Baht 20 million, represented by 2 million shares at a par value of Baht 10 each. The proportionate holding is 50% for Asphere Innovations Public Company Limited and 50% for Bitkub Venture Co., Ltd. registered on 12 September 2022.









17.	Equipment 	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Building 
improvements
	Server
	Furniture & fixture and equipment
	

   Vehicles
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	At 1 January 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	13,465
	179,529
	86,214
	5,825
	285,033

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	(12,897)
	(167,911)
	(82,542)
	(5,821)
	(269,171)

	Net book amount
	568
	11,618
	3,672
	4
	15,862

	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	568
	11,618
	3,672
	4
	15,862

	Additions
	8,688
	12,123
	6,382
	604
	27,797

	Disposal/write off, net
	(413)
	(47)
	(113)
	-
	(573)

	Depreciation charge
	(888)
	(6,912)
	(1,967)
	(173)
	(9,940)

	Exchange differences
	-
	(45)
	13
	-
	(32)

	Closing net book amount
	7,955
	16,737
	7,987
	435
	33,114

	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	9,237
	193,414
	82,896
	8,964
	294,511

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	(1,282)
	(176,677)
	(74,909)
	(8,529)
	(261,397)

	Net book amount
	7,955
	16,737
	7,987
	435
	33,114

	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	7,955
	16,737
	7,987
	435
	33,114

	Additions
	2,009
	6,425
	4,266
	-
	12,700

	Disposal/write off, net
	-
	(66)
	(118)
	-
	(184)

	Decrease from disposal of investment in 
   subsidiary
	-
	(1,697)
	(879)
	-
	(2,576)

	Depreciation charge
	(1,557)
	(7,162)
	(3,103)
	(396)
	(12,218)

	Exchange differences
	-
	(165)
	(12)
	-
	(177)

	Closing net book amount
	8,407
	14,072
	8,141
	39
	30,659

	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2023
	  
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	10,696
	172,236
	76,635
	5,893
	265,460

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	(2,289)
	(158,164)
	(68,494)
	(5,854)
	(234,801)

	Net book amount
	8,407
	14,072
	8,141
	39
	30,659



17.	Equipment (Cont’d)
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Building 
improvements
	Server
	Furniture & fixture and equipment
	

Vehicles
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	At 1 January 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	12,902
	60,815
	62,442
	2,683
	138,842

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	(12,334)
	(54,480)
	(60,873)
	(2,679)
	(130,366)

	Net book amount
	568
	6,335
	1,569
	4
	8,476

	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	568
	6,335
	1,569
	4
	8,476

	Additions
	-
	350
	84
	543
	977

	Disposals/write off, net
	(413)
	(6,079)
	(1,066)
	-
	(7,558)

	Depreciation charge
	(155)
	(606)
	(276)
	(164)
	(1,201)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	-
	311
	383
	694

	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	-
	49,126
	50,718
	5,832
	105,676

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	-
	(49,126)
	(50,407)
	(5,449)
	(104,982)

	Net book amount
	-
	-
	311
	383
	694

	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	-
	-
	311
	383
	694

	Additions
	-
	-
	66
	-
	66

	Disposals/write off, net
	-
	-
	(78)
	-
	(78)

	Depreciation charge
	-
	-
	(79)
	(383)
	(462)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	-
	220
	-
	220

	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	-
	38,418
	48,336
	5,833
	92,587

	Less Accumulated depreciation
	-
	(38,418)
	(48,116)
	(5,833)
	(92,367)

	Net book amount
	-
	-
	220
	-
	220





18.	Right-of-use assets
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Building 
improvements
	Server
	Vehicles
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	6,102
	6,556
	1,022
	13,680

	Additions
	16,079
	(1,345)
	(544)
	14,190

	Depreciation charge
	(5,615)
	(2,285)
	(478)
	(8,378)

	Exchange differences
	189
	58
	-
	247

	Closing net book amount
	16,755
	2,984
	-
	19,739

	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	16,755
	2,984
	-
	19,739

	Additions / Transfer
	2,096
	-
	-
	2,096

	Decrease from disposal of investment in subsidiary
	(957)
	-
	-
	(957)

	Depreciation charge / Write-off
	(7,227)
	(2,119)
	-
	(9,346)

	Exchange differences
	(129)
	-
	-
	(129)

	Closing net book amount
	10,538
	865
	-
	11,403



	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Building 
improvements
	Server
	Vehicles
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	-
	5,104
	1,021
	6,125

	Additions / Transfer
	-
	-
	(543)
	(543)

	Depreciation charge
	-
	(2,120)
	(478)
	(2,598)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	2,984
	-
	2,984

	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	-
	2,984
	-
	2,984

	Additions / Transfer
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Depreciation charge / Write-off
	-
	(2,119)
	-
	(2,119)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	865
	-
	865

	
	
	
	
	



19.	Intangible assets
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Game licenses
	Computer software
	Golf club membership
	Customer relationship
	
Trademark
	
Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	At 1 January 2022
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost 
	395,115
	59,592
	3,755
	78,501
	51,133
	588,096

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(211,340)
	(46,526)
	-
	(42,284)
	(9,324)
	(309,474)

	Less Allowance for impairment
	(74,524)
	-
	(1,401)
	(26,596)
	(41,809)
	(144,330)

	Net book amount
	109,251
	13,066
	2,354
	9,621
	-
	134,292

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	109,251
	13,066
	2,354
	9,621
	-
	134,292

	Additions
	191,762
	591
	-
	-
	-
	192,353

	Disposal/write-off, net
	(36,685)
	(5,740)
	-
	-
	-
	(42,425)

	Amortisation charged
	(73,224)
	(2,027)
	-
	(3,005)
	-
	(78,256)

	Exchange differences
	1,346
	-
	95
	(528)
	-
	913

	Closing net book amount
	192,450
	5,890
	2,449
	6,088
	-
	206,877

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost 
	553,168
	51,413
	3,906
	76,578
	51,133
	736,198

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(284,836)
	(45,523)
	-
	(43,895)
	(9,324)
	(383,578)

	Less Allowance for impairment
	(75,882)
	-
	(1,457)
	(26,595)
	(41,809)
	(145,743)

	Net book amount
	192,450
	5,890
	2,449
	6,088
	-
	206,877

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	192,450
	5,890
	2,449
	6,088
	-
	206,877

	Additions
	42,762
	1,396
	-
	-
	-
	44,158

	Disposal/write-off, net
	(67,421)
	-
	-
	(5,958)
	-
	(73,379)

	Decrease from disposal of investment in   
subsidiary
	(21,727)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(21,727)

	Amortisation charged
	(79,769)
	(1,797)
	-
	-
	-
	(81,566)

	Exchange differences
	(1,409)
	965
	23
	(130)
	-
	(551)

	Closing net book amount
	64,886
	6,454
	2,472
	-
	-
	73,812

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2023
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost 
	277,119
	54,477
	3,944
	14,728
	-
	350,268

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(199,868)
	(48,023)
	(1,472)
	(14,728)
	-
	(264,091)

	Less Allowance for impairment
	(12,365)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(12,365)

	Net book amount
	64,886
	6,454
	2,472
	-
	-
	73,812



19.	Intangible assets (Cont’d)
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Game licenses
	Computer software
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	At 1 January 2022
	
	
	

	Cost 
	55,843
	18,763
	74,606

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(16,784)
	(11,437)
	(28,221)

	Net book amount
	39,059
	7,326
	46,385

	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2022
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	39,059
	7,326
	46,385

	Additions
	5,973
	55
	6,028

	Disposal/write-off, net
	(35,525)
	(6,691)
	(42,216)

	Amortisation charged
	(9,507)
	(591)
	(10,098)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	99
	99

	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	
	
	

	Cost 
	24,725
	3,147
	27,872

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(24,725)
	(3,048)
	(27,773)

	Net book amount
	-
	99
	99

	
	
	
	

	For the year ended 31 December 2023
	
	
	

	Opening net book amount
	-
	99
	99

	Additions
	-
	66
	66

	Disposal/write-off, net
	-
	-
	-

	Amortisation charged
	-
	(44)
	(44)

	Closing net book amount
	-
	121
	121

	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2023
	
	
	

	Cost 
	24,725
	3,213
	27,938

	Less Accumulated amortisation
	(24,725)
	(3,092)
	(27,817)

	Net book amount
	-
	121
	121




20.	Trade and other payables 
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Trade account payables - third party
	36,401
	52,473
	-
	-

	Trade account payables - related parties
	
	
	
	

	   (Note 35 (d))
	-
	-
	14,561
	16,571

	Other payables - third party
	7,887
	12,169
	1,097
	291

	Accrued royalty fee
	35,363
	34,614
	-
	6,286

	Payables for purchases of intangible assets
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Accrued expenses
	52,899
	52,465
	3,354
	6,243

	Accrued interest - Director (Note 35 (d))
	1,519
	-
	1,519
	-

	Accrued interest - Major shareholder 
	
	
	
	

	   (Note 35 (d))
	2,065
	-
	2,065
	-

	Accrued interest - Subsidiaries (Note 35 (d))
	-
	-
	10
	

	Total trade and other payables
	136,134
	151,721
	22,606
	29,391


21.	Long-term loan from financial institution
Long-term loan from financial institution as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 comprise the following:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Long-term loan
	213,320
	-
	213,320
	-

	Less: Current portion
	(80,040)
	-
	(80,040)
	-

	Long-term loan - net of current portion
	133,280
	-
	133,280
	-








21.	Long-term loan from financial institution (Cont’d)
Change in long-term loan from financial institution account for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were summarised as follows:

	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Beginning balance of the year
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Add: Additional loan during the year
	240,000
	-
	240,000
	-

	Less: Repayment during the year
	(26,680)
	-
	(26,680)
	-

	Ending balance of the year
	213,320
	-
	213,320
	-



The Company has a long-term loan from United Overseas Bank Public Company Limited in the amount of Baht 213 million with interest at a rate of THOR+2.5% per annum, the contract period is 3 years.
The loan above, guarantee by pledging common shares of Bitkub Online Company Limited in the amount of 1 million shares, amount of Baht 145 million (Note 15), provide a guarantee for debt repayment by Playpark Company Limited to the bank in a guaranteed amount of not less than in the amount of Baht 240 million and register a deposit account as business collateral under the Business Collateral Act with a registered limit of not less than amount of Baht 50 million (Note 14).
22. 	Short-term loans from related parties
	Short-term loans from related parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 comprise the following:
	
	Interest rate
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	(% per annum)
	
	financial  statements
	
	financial  statements

	
	2023
	
	2022
	
	2023
	
	2022
	
	2023
	
	2022

	Short-term loans from
	Thousand Baht
	
	Thousand Baht
	
	Thousand Baht
	
	Thousand Baht
	
	Thousand Baht
	
	Thousand Baht

	Director (Note 35 (f))
	4.50%
	
	-
	
	80,000
	
	-
	
	80,000
	
	-

	Sabuy Technology PCL. 
     (Note 35 (f))
	4.50%
	
	-
	
	110,000
	
	-
	
	110,000
	
	-

	A Capital Co., Ltd. (Note 35 (f))
	0.85%
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,000
	
	-

	Total short-term loans from related parties
	
	
	
	190,000
	
	-
	
	193,000
	
	-






22. 	Short-term loans from related parties (Cont’d)
The Company has a short-term loans from director in the amount of Baht 80 million with interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum, a short-term loans from Sabuy Technology Public Company Limited in the amount of Baht 110 million with interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum and a short-term loans from A Capital Company Limited in the amount of Baht 3 million with interest rate of 0.85% per annum.
Change in short-term loans from related parties account for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were summarised as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Beginning balance of the year
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Add: Additional loan during the year
	210,000
	-
	213,000
	-

	Less: Repayment during the year
	(20,000)
	-
	(20,000)
	-

	Ending balance of the year
	190,000
	-
	193,000
	-



23.	Deferred revenue
Revenue recognised in the current reporting period from beginning balance performance obligations as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	
	

	Beginning balance
	125,178
	140,569
	-
	20,124

	Additions
	1,295,771
	841,242
	-
	208,410

	Revenue recognised from publishing online 
    game service
	(1,301,462)
	(856,633)
	-
	(228,534)

	Decrease from disposal of investment in subsidiary
	(13,050)
	-
	-
	-

	Ending balance
	106,437
	125,178
	-
	-







24.	Deferred income taxes
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate from 17% -25%. 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liability is as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax assets to be
	
	
	
	

	   recovered within 12 months
	-
	3
	5,784
	5,784

	Deferred tax assets to be
	
	
	
	

	   recovered after 12 months
	43,642
	6,735
	38,292
	2,060

	
	43,642
	6,738
	44,076
	7,844

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax liabilities to be 
	
	
	
	

	   settled within 12 months
	-
	(3,590)
	-
	-

	Deferred tax liabilities to 
	
	
	
	

	   be settled after 12 months 
	(3,590)
	(1,259)
	-
	-

	
	(3,590)
	(4,849)
	-
	-

	Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net
	40,052
	1,889
	44,076
	7,844


	The gross movement and the deferred income tax account is as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred income tax, net - 1 January
	1,889
	3,625
	7,844
	24,445

	Charged to profit or loss
	1,931
	(2,806)
	-
	(14,390)

	Charged (credited) to other
	
	
	
	

	   comprehensive income
	36,232
	1,070
	36,232
	(2,211)

	Deferred income tax, net - 31 December
	40,052
	1,889
	44,076
	7,844






24.	Deferred income taxes (Cont’d)
	The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	Credited (charged) to
	

	As at 31 December
	2022
	Profit or loss
	Other comprehensive income
	2023

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	

	Provisions for employee benefit
	6,735
	231
	-
	6,966

	Loss on changes in the value of equity investments designated at fair value
	-
	-
	36,232
	36,232

	Other provision
	3
	441
	-
	444

	
	6,738
	672
	36,232
	43,642

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	

	Deferred revenue
	(3,590)
	-
	-
	(3,590)

	Accumulated amortisation - customer relation
	(1,259)
	1,259
	-
	-

	
	(4,849)
	1,259
	-
	(3,590)

	Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net 
	1,889
	1,931
	36,232
	40,052



	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	Credited (charged) to
	

	As at 31 December
	2022
	Profit or loss
	Other comprehensive income
	2023

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivable 
	5,784
	-
	-
	5,784

	Provisions for employee benefit
	2,060
	-
	-
	2,060

	Loss on changes in the value of equity investments designated at fair value
	-
	-
	36,233
	36,233

	Deferred tax assets, net
	7,844
	-
	36,233
	44,076



25.	Employee benefit obligations
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Present value of post-employment 
	
	
	
	

	   benefit obligations
	19,197
	17,781
	5,725
	5,463

	Liability in the statement of
	
	
	
	

	   financial position
	19,197
	17,781
	5,725
	5,463


Movements in the employee benefit obligations during the year are as follows: 
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	
	

	Opening book amount
	17,781
	20,384
	5,463
	16,210

	Current service costs
	1,179
	1,675
	212
	691

	Interest costs
	237
	357
	50
	132

	Loss on remeasurement of retirement 
	
	
	
	

	  of benefit obligations
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Reversal on employee benefit obligations
	-
	(2,239)
	-
	(11,570)

	Exchange rate differences
	-
	(2,396)
	-
	-

	Closing book amount
	19,197
	17,781
	5,725
	5,463




25.	Employee benefit obligations (Cont’d)
The amounts recognised into profit or loss are as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Current service costs
	1,179
	1,675
	212
	691

	Interest costs
	237
	357
	50
	132

	Total, included in staff costs
	1,416
	2,032
	262
	823


Of the total charge, Baht 1.42 million and Baht 0.26 million (2022: Baht 2.03 million and Baht 0.82 million) were included in cost of goods sold and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and separate statements of comprehensive income, respectively.
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	%
	%
	%
	%

	Discount rate
	1.51
	1.51
	1.51
	1.51

	Future salary increase rate
	5.00
	5.00
	5.00
	5.00

	Resignation rate
	3.82 - 45.84
	3.82 - 45.84
	3.82 - 45.84
	3.82 - 45.84

















25. 	Employee benefit obligations (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Impact on defined benefit obligations:
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Discount rate
	
	
	
	

	Decrease 1%
	1,594
	1,594
	494
	494

	Increase 1%
	1,398
	1,389
	433
	433

	Salary increase rate
	
	
	
	

	Decrease 1%
	1,358
	1,358
	421
	421

	Increase 1%
	1,513
	1,513
	469
	469

	Resignation rate
	
	
	
	

	Decrease 1%
	126
	126
	39
	39

	Increase 1%
	102
	102
	32
	32


The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same method has been applied as when calculating the liability recognised in the statement of financial position.
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted retirement benefits:
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Less than a year
	Between 
1-2 years
	Between 
2-5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Retirement benefits
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	-
	-
	2,040
	15,138
	17,178

	At 31 December 2023
	-
	2,040
	620
	14,518
	17,178



	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Less than a year
	Between 
1-2 years
	Between 
2-5 years
	Over 5 years
	Total

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Retirement benefits
	
	
	
	
	

	At 31 December 2022
	-
	-
	632
	4,693
	5,325

	At 31 December 2023
	-
	632
	192
	4,501
	5,325

	       The weighted average duration of the retirement benefit is 12 years. (2022: 12 years).


26.	Share capital 
On March 2022, the Company issued for 6,242,762 shares as a result of warrants (AS-WB) at the price of Baht 0.86 per share totaling Baht 5,368,775 which, consisted of paid-up share capital for Baht 3,121,381 and share premium capital for Baht 2,247,394.
[bookmark: _Hlk110783882][bookmark: _Hlk110783897][bookmark: _Hlk110783933][bookmark: _Hlk110783942]On 24 June 2022, the Company issued for 6,992,758 shares as a result of warrants (AS-W2) at the price of Baht 3.50 per share totaling Baht 24,474,653 which, consisted of issued and paid-up share capital for Baht 3,496,379 and share premium capital for Baht 20,978,274.
On 20 September 2022, the Company issued for 1,146,755 shares as a result of warrants (AS-WB) at the price of Baht 0.86 per share totaling Baht 986,209 which, consisted of issued and paid-up share capital for Baht 573,377 and share premium capital for Baht 412,832.
On 23 December 2022, the Company issued for 35,927,638 shares as a result of warrants (AS-W2) at the price of Baht 3.50 per shares totaling Baht 125,746,733 which, consisted of issued and paid-up share capital for Baht 17,963,819 and share premium capital for Baht 107,782,914. 
On 23 June 2023, the Company issued for 166,580 shares as a result of warrants (AS-W2) at the price of Baht 3.50 per shares totalling Baht 583,030 which, consisted of issued and paid-up share capital for Baht 83,290 and share premium capital for Baht 499,740.
On 25 December 2023, the Company issued for 848,523 shares as a result of warrants (AS-W2) at the price of Baht 3.50 per shares totaling Baht 2,969,831 which, consisted of issued and paid-up share capital for Baht 424,262 and share premium capital for Baht 2,545,569.
Reconciliations of number of authorised share capital and issued and paid-up share capital for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
	
	Authorised 
share capital
	Issued and paid-up                 share capital

	Number of ordinary shares at 1 January 2023 (shares)
	513,007,473
	506,716,514

	Issuance of ordinary shares as a result
	
	

	    of warrants exercised (AS-W2) (shares)
	-
	1,015,103

	Number of ordinary shares at 31 December 2023 (shares)
	513,007,473
	507,731,617

	Par value (Baht per share) 
	0.5
	0.5

	At 31 December 2023 (Baht)
	256,503,737
	253,865,809






27.	Legal reserve
Under the Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside as a legal reserve at least 5% of its net profit after accumulated deficit brought forward (if any) until the reserve is not less than 10% of the registered capital of the Company. The reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
28.	Warrants 
28 (a)	Share-based payment - Warrants
Warrants issued and offered to directors and employees of the Company (AS-WB)
The Company issued and offered warrants to directors and employees (AS-WB) of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are in registered form and are non-transferable. The warrants have no offered price and their terms do not exceed 3 years starting from 14 August 2020 in a maximum of 20,493,850 units. 1 unit of warrant is exercisable to purchase 1 ordinary share at Baht 0.86 each within 3 years starting from 14 August 2020. Its first exercise was during 16 - 20 September 2020 and able to exercise on every 6 months, which will be on 16 - 20 March and 16 - 20 September throughout the term of warrants.
Movements in the number of warrants outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:
	
	
	Consolidated and separate financial statements

	
	
	Average exercise price Baht per share
	
	
Option

	
	
	
	
	

	At 1 January 2022
	
	0.86
	
	8,718,937

	Excerised
	
	0.86
	
	(7,389,517)

	At 31 December 2022
	
	0.86
	
	1,329,420

	
	
	
	
	

	At 1 January 2023
	
	0.86
	
	1,329,420

	At 31 December 2023
	
	0.86
	
	1,329,420


As at 31 December 2023, the Group and the Company recognised the value of warrants over the vesting period.  The expense in relation to warrants are recognised as an expense in the consolidated and company income statements with a corresponding credit to the consolidated and company shareholders’ equity of Baht 5,945,740.







28.	Warrants (Cont’d)
28 (b)	Warrants No. 2 (AS-W2)
The Company issued and offered warrants to the Company’s existing shareholders proportionately to their shareholding, which are in registered form and transferable to existing shareholders in a maximum of 82,636,430 units. 1 unit of warrant is exercisable to purchase 1 ordinary share at Baht 3.50 each within 3 years starting from 25 January 2021. Its first exercise was on 25 June 2021 and able to exercise on every 6 months, which will be on 25 June and 25 December throughout the term of warrants. 
As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 3,946,436 outstanding warrants were exercisable.
Movements in the number of warrants outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: 
	
	
	Consolidated and separate financial statements

	
	
	Average exercise price Baht per share
	
	
Option

	
	
	
	
	

	At 1 January 2022
	
	3.50
	
	47,881,935

	Excerised
	
	3.50
	
	(42,920,396)

	At 31 December 2022
	
	3.50
	
	4,961,539

	
	
	
	
	

	At 1 January 2023
	
	3.50
	
	4,961,539

	Exercised
	
	3.50
	
	(1,015,103)

	At 31 December 2023
	
	3.50
	
	3,946,436


29.	 Other income
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Interest income
	1,874
	880
	1,429
	414

	Service income
	-
	-
	-
	71,096

	Other income
	8,301
	45,903
	25,831
	26,425

	Total other income
	10,175
	46,783
	27,260
	97,935

	
	
	
	
	






30.	Expenses by nature
	The following expenditure items, classified by nature, have been charged in arriving at the operating profit (loss):
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Salaries, wages and other employee benefits
	202,790
	223,638
	10,583
	38,867

	Monthly royalty fee
	444,012
	464,487
	-
	43,871

	Depreciation
	21,388
	20,175
	2,625
	 6,875

	Amortisation 
	79,742
	78,061
	-
	11,107

	Loss on write-off of intangible assets
	73,379
	-
	-
	-

	Loss on impairment of prepaid royalty fee
	26,275
	-
	-
	-

	Reversal of impairment of expected credit losses
	-
	(28,919)
	-
	-

	Reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiaries
	-
	 -
	-
	   (55,050)




31.      Income tax
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Current tax:
	
	
	
	

	Current tax on profit for the year
	53,886
	50,363
	-
	700

	Adjustment in respect of prior year
	(771)
	237
	-
	-

	Total current tax
	53,115
	50,600
	-
	700

	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax:
	
	
	
	

	    Origination and reversal of temporary differences:
	
	
	

	- Deferred tax assets
	(675)
	415
	-
	17,111

	- Deferred tax liabilities 
	-
	184
	-
	(2,721)

	Total deferred tax (income) expense
	(675)
	599
	-
	14,390

	Total income tax expense (revenue)
	52,440
	51,199
	-
	15,090



The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of the home country of the Group as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Profit before income tax
	252,107
	317,327
	185,050
	343,119

	Tax rate
	18 - 24%
	 17 - 25%
	20%
	20%

	Tax calculated at tax rate
	88,142
	85,678
	37,010
	68,624

	Tax effect of:
	
	
	
	

	Adjustment in respect of prior year
	(771)
	237
	-
	-

	Income not subject to tax   
	(86,986)
	(87,997)
	(84,558)
	(87,946)

	Expenses not deductible for tax purpose
	5,338
	4,922
	156
	3,268

	Deferred tax expense (revenue)
	(675)
	599
	-
	14,390

	Used tax benefit from previously
	
	
	
	

	  unrecognised deferred tax assets
	-
	47,760
	-
	16,754

	Tax loss not recognised as deferred tax assets
	47,392
	-
	47,392
	-

	Tax charge (credit)
	52,440
	51,199
	-
	15,090


32.	Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the parent is calculated by dividing net earnings attributable to shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of paid-up ordinary shares in issue during the year.
The diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the parent is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
The Company has issued and offered warrants to directors and employees (AS-WB) of the Company and its subsidiaries. The warrants have no offered price and their terms do not exceed 3 years from the issued date (the issued date is 14 August 2020) at a maximum of 20,493,850 units. The exercise price is at Baht 0.86 per share. The exercise ratio is one warrant to one ordinary share. The warrants can be exercised on every 6 months, which will be on 16 - 20 March and 16 - 20 September throughout the term of warrants. The first exercise date will be on 16 - 20 September 2020.
The outstanding warrants as at 31 December 2023 which consist of warrant issued and offered to directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (AS-WB) and warrants to the Company’s existing shareholders (AS-W2) affect the diluted earnings per share since the exercise price of the outstanding warrants is lower than the average market price of the Company’s shares during the period ended 31 December 2023.
The basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Earnings attributable to ordinary
	
	
	
	

	   shareholders of the Company (Thousand Baht)
	218,331
	268,560
	185,050
	328,029

	Weighted average number of ordinary
	
	
	
	

	   shares outstanding (Thousand shares)
	506,820
	466,150
	506,820
	466,150

	Basic earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.43
	0.58
	0.37
	0.70


The diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Earnings attributable to ordinary
	
	
	
	

	   shareholders of the Company (Thousand Baht)
	218,331
	268,560
	185,050
	328,029

	Weighted average number of ordinary
	
	
	
	

	   shares outstanding (Thousand shares)
	509,142
	471,157
	509,142
	471,157

	Diluted earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.43
	0.57
	0.37
	0.70




33.	Dividends
At the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders for the year 2022, which was held on 22 April 2022. The shareholders passed a resolution to approve dividends payment in respect of the operating results of the fiscal year 2021 from retained earnings, in cash at Baht 0.30 per share, totalling Baht 136.92 million. The dividends were for the shareholders listed in the register on 14 March 2022, and were distributed on 9 May 2022.
At the Board of Director’s Meeting during the year 2022, which was held on 11 August 2022. The Board passed a resolution to approve interim dividends payment in respect of the operating results of first 6 month of the fiscal year 2022, in cash at Baht 0.30 per share, totalling Baht 140.89 million. The dividends were for the shareholders listed in the register on 25 August 2022, and were distributed on 8 September 2022.
At the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders for the year 2023, which was held on 25 April 2023. The shareholders passed a resolution to approve dividends payment in respect of the operating results of the fiscal year 2022 from retained earnings, in cash at Baht 0.23 per share, totalling Baht 116.54 million. The dividends were for the shareholders listed in the register on 29 March 2023, and were distributed on 9 May 2023.
34.	Commitments 
License agreements
The Group has entered into software license agreements, agreements licensing it to provide publishing online game services and distribution rights agreements with several local and overseas companies. Under the agreements, the Company and subsidiaries are committed to pay initial license fees, minimum guarantee based on agreements and royalty fees based on revenue as stated in the agreements. The minimum guarantee payment are due according to the payment terms in the agreements.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group are committed to pay initial license fees and minimum guarantee as follows:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Initial license fees
	28,679
	74,898
	-
	-

	Minimum guarantee
	48,796
	83,360
	-
	-





35.	Related party transactions 
Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with, the Company, including holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Company. Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the Company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.
The Company’s shares are held by Mr. Pramoth Sudjitporn in the proportion of 29%. The remaining of 71% are widely held.
The significant investments in subsidiaries and associates are set out in Note 16.
The following significant transactions were carried out with related parties:
(a)	Relationship
	The relationships that the Group and the Company have with related persons or related parties as follows:
	Company
	
	Relationship

	A Capital Co., Ltd.
	
	Subsidiary company

	CIB Development Sdn. Bhd.
	
	Subsidiary company

	Playpark Co., Ltd.
	
	Subsidiary company

	Playpark Pte Ltd. 
	
	Subsidiary company

	PT. Asiasoft
	
	Subsidiary company

	Playpark Inc.
	
	Subsidiary company

	Playpark Company Limited Vietnam
	
	Subsidiary company

	Playpark Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 
	
	Subsidiary company

	Asia Soft Co., Ltd. - Vietnam
	
	Subsidiary company

	Thaiware Communication Company Limited
	
	Associate company of A Capital Co.,Ltd.

	Kubplay Entertainment Co., Ltd.
	
	Joint venture

	Sabuy Technology PCL.
	
	Major shareholder company

	Person or other related parties
	
	Being a person related to a director of the Company or
A business that has a joint director





35.	Related party transactions (Cont’d)
(b)	Sales of goods and services and others
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	For the year ended 31 December 
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Revenue from license fee and service
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	69,051

	
	-
	-
	-
	69,051

	Revenues from selling card
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	46

	
	-
	-
	-
	46

	Interest income
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	355
	9

	
	-
	-
	355
	9

	Dividend income
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	181,456
	252,133

	
	-
	-
	181,456
	252,133

	Other income
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	32,961
	-

	
	-
	-
	32,961
	-

	
	
	
	
	


(c)	Purchases of goods and services and others
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	For the years ended 31 December
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	License fees and management fee
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	25,519
	53,346

	
	-
	-
	25,519
	53,346

	Cost from selling card
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	91

	
	-
	-
	-
	91




35.	Related party transactions (Cont’d)
(d)	Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services and others
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Trade accounts receivable (Note 10)
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	-
	28,919
	48,988

	Joint venture
	-
	38
	-
	38

	Total
	-
	38
	28,919
	49,026

	Less Allowance expected credit losses 
	-
	-
	(28,919)
	(28,919)

	
	-
	38
	-
	20,107

	
Amounts due from and 
	
	
	
	

	                       accrued interest from related parties (Note 10)
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries - other receivables
	-
	-
	20,942
	64,447

			           - accrued interest
	-
	6
	-
	9

	Joint venture - other receivables
	132
	-
	128
	-

			 - accrued interest
	198
	-
	198
	-

	Total
	330
	6
	21,268
	64,456

	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables (Note 20)
	
	
	
	

	Related parties
	-
	-
	14,561
	16,571

	Director - accrued interest
	1,519
	-
	1,519
	-

	Major shareholder - accrued interest
	2,065
	-
	2,065
	-

	Subsidiary - accrued interest
	-
	-
	10
	-

	Total
	3,584
	-
	18,155
	16,571











35.	Related party transactions (Cont’d)
(e)	Short-term loans to related parties (Note 11)
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Subsidiary
	-
	-
	-
	20,000

	Associate
	-
	3,000
	-
	3,000

	Joint venture
	7,500
	-
	7,500
	-

	Total
	7,500
	3,000
	7,500
	23,000


(f)	Short-term loans from related parties (Note 22)
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Director
	80,000
	-
	80,000
	-

	Major shareholder
	110,000
	-
	110,000
	-

	Subsidiary
	-
	-
	3,000
	-

	Total
	190,000
	-
	193,000
	-


(g) 	Key management’s compensations 
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), members of the Executive Committee, and the Company Secretary. For the year ended 31 December 2023, The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:
	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Short-term employee benefits
	28,018
	27,250
	9,511
	14,574

	Retirement benefits
	1,940
	901
	263
	280

	Total
	29,958
	28,151
	9,774
	14,854





36.	Fair value of financial instruments
Some financial assets of the Group were measured at fair value in the statement of financial position as at the end of reporting period.
The following table presents information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined.
	
	Level 1

	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
	
	
	
	

	Investment in mutual fund (Note 12)
	186,471
	310,878
	52,018
	187,993

	Total
	186,471
	310,878
	52,018
	187,993



37.	Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
The significant outstanding balances of the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Financial assets
	Financial liabilities
	Average exchange rate

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Foreign currency
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Baht
	Baht

	
	
	
	
	
	Baht per 1 unit of foreign currency

	USD
	7,659
	8,158
	1,283
	1,392
	34.2233
	     34.5624

	EUR
	-
	-
	-
	10
	38.0334
	     36.8274

	MYR
	200
	4,455
	-
	54
	7.4168
	       7.8304

	SGD
	4,024
	7,280
	219
	146
	25.9733
	     25.7206

	PHP
	6
	-
	3,703
	2,351
	0.6138
	       0.6190

	IDR
	830,062
	846,147
	-
	-
	0.0022
	       2.2143

	VND
	16,924,723
	20,223,603
	5,555,558
	697,326
	2.2267
	0.0015







37.	Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (Cont’d)
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Financial assets
	Financial liabilities
	Average exchange rate

	
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022
	2023
	2022

	Foreign currency
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Thousand
	Baht
	Baht

	
	
	
	
	
	Baht per 1 unit of foreign currency

	USD
	2,892
	4,146
	-
	170
	34.2233
	34.5624

	EUR
	-
	-
	-
	-
	38.0334
	36.8274

	MYR
	-
	-
	-
	14
	7.4168
	7.8304

	SGD
	33
	4,033
	67
	113
	25.9733
	25.7206



38.	Reclassification of accounts
Certain accounts in the three-month period ended 31 March 2023 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the 2023 financial statements as follows:
	
	
	Thousand Baht

	
	
	For the three-month period ended 31 March 2023

	
	
	Before
Reclassifications
	
	
Reclassifications
	
	After
reclassifications

	Statement of Comprehensive Income
	
	
	
	

	Cost of services
	
	(192,641)
	
	20,185
	
	(172,456)

	Administrative expenses
	
	(50,393)
	
	(20,185)
	
	(70,578)


The reclassifications have been made because, in the opinion of management, the new reclassification is more appropriated to the Company’s business. 
39.	Important Agreement
	Entering into an agreement to purchase 4,149,000 ordinary shares of Bitkub Online Co., Ltd. (“BO”), representing 9.22% of the registered capital from Bitkub Capital Group Holdings Co., Ltd. in the amount of Baht 600,000,000 and deposit of Baht 60,000,000 in the form of a cashier’s cheque payable on the date of the share purchase agreement. The Company has entered into a loan agreement for the purpose of purchasing ordinary shares.



40.     Events occurring after the reporting date
At the Board of Directors Meeting No. 2/2024, on 12 January 2024, the meeting resolved to propose to shareholders to consider and approve the share repurchase project for financial management within a maximum amount not exceeding Baht 120 million an amount not exceeding 15 million shares, which is 2.95 percent of all sold shares. The par value is Baht 0.50 per share, with the repurchase period scheduled from 19 January 2024 to 18 April 2024, and the repurchase share sale period is scheduled to be after 3 months from the completion of the share repurchase. It must not be more than 3 years.
At the Board of Directors Meeting No. 4/2024, on 29 February 2024, the meeting resolved to propose to shareholders to consider and approve the reduction of the company's registered capital of Baht 1.12 million from the prior registered capital of Baht 256.50 million to the newly registered capital of Baht 255.38 million by canceling the unissued shares with 2,242,707 shares at par value Baht 0.50 and approved the amendment to Clause 4 of the Memorandum of Association of the Company to be in line with the decreasing of the registered capital.
